The Tithe War in Ireland

Its Sanguinary Finale at

The Murder at Gortroe

- - - - - -

To-day the impious tyrant’s power their banded strength will smite;

No more they’ll brook the triple curse of parson, church and tithe.

With Freedom’s God to bless their brands they’ll strike one smashing blow

And centuries’ suffered shame redeem this morning in Gortroe.
During the persecution of the Penal Days Irish Catholics suffered many forms of oppression. They were forbidden to worship, condemned to illiteracy, deprived of their worldly goods, and made serfs and outlaws in their own land. Statute after statute added to their disabilities. Year after year their inhuman burden was increased until it was only by connivance they were allowed to live; a high legal luminary declared that the law did not, at the time, suppose a Papist to exist.

But of the multitude of ills to which Irish Catholics in those evil times had perforce to submit there were few more galling or more offensive to their religious instincts than the iniquitous tax known as Tithes. Under this impost an impoverished people, weighted with rackrents and often victims of famine and disease, had to contribute a tenth of their agricultural produce to the support of the Protestant Church and its ministers. Catholics then, as they do now, constituted the bulk of the population. To them the Protestant Church was an alien institution. It was antagonistic to their cherished beliefs and was naturally associated in their minds with the tyranny that sought to degrade them as Catholics and to extirpate the religion which was part of their very lives.

Whether from a sense of justice or through the exigencies of changing times a spirit of toleration began to make itself manifest about the middle of the  eighteenth century. Some of the more obnoxious articles of the Penal Code were repealed, some of the more glaring injustices were remedied, and Catholics came to be treated with more consideration. But the parson had still to get his tithes and Catholic farmers had to hand over to the proctor every tenth sheaf of their cornfields and the produce of every tenth ridge of their potato gardens.

In the year 1735 an Act was passed exempting grazing lands from tithes. Because of this (among other reasons) landlords became encouraged to convert their estates into grazing ranches. With this view they enclosed ‘commons’ on which people had been accustomed to graze their cattle and they evicted the tenants of small holdings. Thus not only was the burden of tithes aggravated by being thrown on a smaller area but the people were deprived of privileges they had hitherto enjoyed, and hundreds of families were thrown on the roadside. To make matters still worse the parson often farmed his tithes to a tithe-collector who extorted all he could, and generally more than the legal amount of the tithe he was entitled to demand.

The miseries and suffering of the people were intense. Multitudes were turned into beggars, but the more desperate, resenting their treatment and imbued with a spirit of resistance or retaliation, banded themselves into secret societies. In the south of Ireland these were known as Whiteboys. They are said to have got their name from the fact of their going around at night with shirts or other white garments over their ordinary clothes. They levelled fences, burned houses, intimidated rich and poor, and created widespread terror. A letter from a gentleman in Youghal to his son in London, which was published in a magazine of the time, gives an idea of their activities.

The Whiteboys

‘Their first rise,’ the letter states, ‘was in October last (1761), and they have ever since been increasing. They then, and all along, pretended that their assembling was to do justice to the poor by restoring the ancient commons and redressing other grievances, for which purpose they always assembled in the night with their shirts over their clothes, which caused them to be called Whiteboys. They have done infinite damage, levelling ditches and stonewalls, rooting up orchards, etc. I saw several ditches they had levelled, part of an orchard destroyed, and two graves they had dug in the road between Clonmel and Cappoquin; the graves were to hold those who did not obey their orders.. . . .At Tallow Bridge they levelled ditches of several fine parks and cut down a number of full grown ashtrees. They then proceeded to Tallow; the horses marched to the west bridge where the commander called out, ‘Halt – to the right about,’ and then proceeded to the market-place in a smart trot. They broke open the Marshalsea, discharged the debtors, sent an advertisement to the justice to lower the price of provisions one half . . . . . .Some days later they came to the Ferry point opposite this town (Youghal) levelled ditches and fired a musket shot; they made a large fire, dug a grave and erected a gallows over it  . . . . .and sent several audacious letters to the inhabitants of the town threatening to pull down several houses.’

The lawlessness of the Whiteboys was the inevitable result of the poverty and misery of which they were the victims. A historian*, writing of the prevailing social system in Ireland during the Penal Days, thus sums up the conditions under which the Catholic tenant lived: ‘A mud cabin fit for a pig, and which he shared with that animal; a patch of ground at a rackrent; precarious and ill-paid labour; chronic starvation and ever-impending famine; rags for his wife and children; extortionate tithes for an alien church; a coarse and brutal landlord, with an insult often and sometimes a blow; and, worst of all, a persistent attempt by government and law to shut him out from the Kingdom of Heaven.’

*The Revd Dr. D’alton 

The same writer cites authorities to show that Whiteboy outrages were due to excessive rents and excessive tithes, that tenants had to pay as much as six pounds an acre for the land they held, that they were sometimes compelled to pay rent by working for fivepence a day, and that the tithes were often greater than the rent.

But, instead of tracing Whiteboy excesses to their source, the Government of the time sought to drive discontent underground, as so often did other British

made Governments in Ireland, by intensified forms of coercion. Martial law was proclaimed for certain areas, there were wholesale arrests, informers were found or created, the innocent suffered with the guilty. Among others Father Sheehy of Clogheen, who had made himself obnoxious to the Ascendancy by a courageous denunciation of tithes and tithe proctors, was convicted on the prejudiced evidence of notoriously degraded creatures. Nor did the death of this revered priest, whose last words were a protestation of innocence, suffice to satisfy the savagery of his enemies. After his execution in Clonmel in March, 1766, his head was cut off and stuck on a spike over the jail gate. And there for twenty years it remained, a revolting public spectacle to intimidate and overawe Catholics by perpetually reminding them of the puissance and frightfulness of their English rulers.

And so ‘law and order’ was vindicated. The Whiteboy bands were broken up. Wrongs remained unredressed, hardships unmitigated. The oppression of the unfortunate people went on as before, to be followed by another vicious cycle of discontent, reaction, further secret societies, bloodshed and crime.

As time went on the hostility to tithes increased. The agitation against them gathered strength and enlisted the support of the more tolerant and broad-minded Protestants. Henry Grattan frequently denounced tithes in the Irish Parliament and brought forward remedial motions concerning them. The tithe proctor he termed ‘a wretch who follows his own nature when he converts authority into corruption and law into peculation.’   Grattan was ably supported by John Philpot Curran, M.P. for Rathcormac, but all the eloquence of these two great men availed nought with the anti-Catholic and bigoted majority of the Irish legislators of that time. Even twenty years later still, in the years 1809 and 1810, when Mr. Parnell, an Irish member, brought forward motions in the British Parliament for the mitigation of tithes, only a small minority of that body were in sympathy with his efforts.

Effect of Emancipation on Tithes

By the Emancipation Act of 1829 what then remained of the Penal Laws were, with a few exceptions, wiped away. The Established Church, however, was not interfered with. It retained all its invidious privileges. But times were fast changing. Irish Catholics had, by this time, left much of the slave complex of the Penal Days behind them. The struggle for Emancipation and the resultant victory had taught them their strength. They were no longer the cowed and terrorised people of the eighteenth century. But they had still many grievances to redress – amongst which the tithe question loomed large and dark. To facilitate the collection of the tax a law was passed in 1832 that it might be paid in money, and, as a small concession to the rising temper of the people, the ‘Vestry Cess’ was abolished in 1833.  (This was a special tax levied on Catholics for the repair of Protestant churches).   In this year, however, the agitation against tithes had grown so threatening that in order ‘to drive discontent beneath the surface’ the severest Coercion Act since the Union was passed through both Houses of Parliament. But it did not succeed in its purpose. It was never rigidly enforced as the Government feared that to do so would lead to civil war. O'Connell and Dr. Doyle, the great J. K. L., advised passive resistance to the collection of the tithe, and when cattle and other goods were seized and put up for auction purchasers were seldom forthcoming. The patience of the people became more and more strained, with the result that active resistance was often resorted to. Seizures were obstructed, bailiffs resisted, and clashes between bodies of countrymen and the Crown forces became increasingly frequent.  

Battles of the Tithe War

During the four years, from 1831 to 1835, that this ‘Tithe War,’ as it was called, lasted, many bloody conflicts took place. At Newtownbarry, Wexford, there was a serious affray in which many Catholics were shot down. At Carrickshock, Kilkenny, a large force of police, protecting a proctor, was ambushed and suffered many casualties. At Skibbereen, Co. Cork, the police and yeomanry fired on a crowd which was resisting a parson – and shot thirty persons dead. But one of the greatest battles of the war, and, as it proved, the decisive one, took place near the village of Bartlemy, seven miles south of Fermoy, on the 18th December, 1834. It is sometimes referred to as ‘The Murder of Gortroe’ as it was for Archdeacon Ryder, parson of Gortroe, that the tithes were being collected on the occasion. The Protestant parish of Gortroe was almost coterminous with the present Catholic parish of Bartlemy. As an ecclesiastical parish this Gortroe is now extinct, but the name survives in the local graveyard as well as in the electoral district which takes in a large part of the old parish of that name.

The Revd. Father Matt Horgan, a celebrated Irish scholar and antiquarian, who was for thirty years Parish Priest of Blarney in the first half of the last century, wrote three touching caoines in Irish concerning the tragedy at Gortroe. The opening stanzas of each caoine as well as versified translations of the whole (by the present writer) are given in the pages which follow.

An tÁr in Gortrua.

By Fr Matt Horgan, P.P., 1835  Opening Verses

Feadh na Mumhan ba scéala trua

Mar cuireadh áur ar an tslua

Do thuit amac an t-ocht lá déag

Do deimhi, ar chlann bocht Gaol,

De chionn na díolaidis sraith trom

Le Ryder Dubh, an cléireach cam,

Síor-shraith Teampail, Deichu daor

Ná fuil follas in dlí Dé.

The Murder of Gortroe

(Translation of Fr. Horgan’s Irish Caoine).

All Munster mourned when through its vales

Of slaughtered crowds ran tragic tales, 

Of Irish hearths and homes forlorn

On dread December’s eighteenth morn.

Since people rendered Ryder not

The tithes that tyrant parson sought, 

That godless tax long dow’ring vain

A bolstered church’s baneful reign.

What evil awful work was there!

Promiscuous slaughterings everywhere!

No shield ‘gainst ruthless Ryder’s bands

But sheathless breasts and worthless brands.

How sad ’s the ruin tithes have wrought!

What blight upon our land they’ve brought;

The world has witnessed well the tale

Of lives and blood they’ve cost the Gael.

In durance vile, disgrace and scorn,

Has Innisfail ill-fortune borne;

For ages have her children pined

‘Neath powers unchristian and unkind.

Not one good hour has Erin owned

Since first ‘neath foreign yoke she groaned,

Her sons enslaved by strangers’ swords

And treacherous clerics’ spoiler hordes.

But now Gortroe’s red, gruesome tale, 

Makes horrors of the past seem pale,

For heedless of the fearful price

Was Ryder’s reckless sacrifice.

Who knows the rue of tears that ran

From mother’s eyes o’er martyred son,

Bewailing lone as winter’s blast

 That glen’s unholy holocaust.

The ‘Cross of Carnage’ shall Bluebell

Henceforth be called, when people tell

Of murder cold, relentless, done

By Saxon there on sire and son.

Black Bill* began the fatal fray

With Colles in the cold morn grey

And, battling grim, men groaned and bled

‘Neath whistling ball and bayonet red.

There ran young Richard Ryan’s blood

Through breast and back in fatal flood;

From plund’ring proctor’s hand he’d save

The sheaves his land and labour gave.

That frame, however bold, there’s not

Can scatheless halt a hurtling shot;

He fell, while rifles round him rung,

Pierced right and left through heart and lung.

*Ryder was locally known as ‘Black Billy’

The March on Gortroe.
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Archdeacon Ryder was appointed parson of Gortroe in the summer of 1834. He experienced difficulty in collecting his tithes and eventually requisitioned military assistance to do so. On the morning of the 18th December, 1834, a military force consisting of the 29th regiment of foot under Major Walter, Captain Sheppard, Captain Higgins and Lieutenant Alves, together with ten dragoons, left Fermoy barracks to protect Ryder and his bailiffs during the day while out collecting tithes. They were later reinforced by some police. At Rathcormac they were met by Captain Bagley, R.M.; Captain Colles, J.P., and Archdeacon Ryder who attended in the double capacity of parson and J.P. Captain Colles, J.P., son of the previous incumbent (portion of whose tithes were outstanding) had likewise a personal interest in the business on hand.

About a mile south of Rathcormac a hilly byroad branched off from the Fermoy-Midleton highway on which the military were travelling. The dragoons took this byroad and came on to Bartlemy village half a mile further on. The infantry followed the main road to Bluebell Cross. What was known as the Cork-Tallow road ran through Bartlemy cutting the Midleton road at Bluebell. About a quarter of a mile east of Bartlemy village and about half way between it and Bluebell a bohreen about two hundred yards long led from the road into the farmyard of a Mr. McAuliffe. Here it turned sharply to the left and ran for about twenty yards between the haggart and the potato garden of a Mrs. Ryan, a widow. The bohreen was closed by a gate where it led into the widow’s farmyard.

When the dragoons reached Bartlemy village they found it occupied by a crowd of about two hundred persons, some on horseback. The demeanour of the crowd was so threatening that the dragoons drew their swords and as they moved along towards the farmyards of McAuliffe and Widow Ryan the country people kept pace with them along the fields at both sides of the road, shouting and cheering (in Irish and English) as they went.  ‘No tithes!’ was the general cry.  ‘No tithes will be paid!’

On reaching the bohreen leading to the farmyards the dragoons joined up with the infantry who had come along from Bluebell. Here the crowds had increased considerably and their attitude was so hostile that the infantry were ordered to fix bayonets. Seeing that the people were not intimidated by this gesture Captain Bagley read the Riot Act. The crowds still refused to disperse. The infantry were ordered to prime and load, and as they began to move down the bohreen there were shouts of ‘To the haggart, boys; to the haggart!    We have but one life to lose; we’ll defend the haggart or lose it!’

Major Walters in his evidence at the subsequent inquest gave the following account of what happened after this.

‘When the military got into the lane beside the haggart I threw out flanking parties into the potato field opposite. Because of the immense crowd and their hostile demeanour I deemed this necessary in order to keep my force from being hemmed in. While doing so I heard Captain Bagley call for men to come to the front. I went forward with a party. On coming to the gap I saw a cart across the entrance and a dense crowd of people at the rere in the yard with large sticks. I should say there were one hundred and fifty people at this time near the cart. On the refusal of the people to disperse Captain Bagley told me that I should force an entrance. I then ordered Captain Sheppard and Lieutenant Alves to charge the crowds. Captain Sheppard got on the cart and was thrown back as were two or three of his men. Their bayonets were struck and many of them bent. The opposition at this time was most violent, so much so that I was obliged to call up more men to the spot. Previous and subsequent to the bringing up of a fresh party every exertion that could be used by the soldiers to force an entrance was used. I spoke to the people for two or three minutes begging them to disperse and to allow the soldiers to pass quietly. To this they flourished their sticks and swore that we should never enter but with loss of life – or blood, or something to that effect. It was said in English and in Irish. Finding all expostulations useless I again ordered my men to charge and force an entrance, and in the same manner as before they were repelled, several of the bayonets being bent. It was then suggested to me by one of my men to take one of the wheels off the cart, in which case we could spring over. I desired it to be done but the blows at the men’s heads were so numerous that they could not effect it. The collision had now lasted twenty or twenty-five minutes. It struck me to turn their flank by taking the haggart. I immediately desired Lieutenant Alves to attempt it. After some opposition he succeeded in gaining the wall. The people in the haggart were partly facing the bohreen and partly facing McAuliffe’s – apparently with a view to meeting both positions. Upon Lieutenant Alves mounting the wall his men simultaneously followed, but as fast as a man got on it he was knocked down. Had the military gained the haggart wall all would be safe. I saw Lieutenant Alves standing with a sword in his hand in a defensive position. When the men attempted to join him a dreadful rush of people took place from McAuliffe’s side of the haggart. The noise and excitement now became terrific. The officer singlehanded was opposed to an immense multitude and his men were not able to back him. Meantime the position at the cart was as violent as ever.’

Major Walter continued:

‘The conduct of the people at first was ‘defensive,’ afterwards ‘offensive,’ stones having been thrown. I observed the clashing at the haggart between the people and the soldiers. As the soldiers attempted to get in at the haggart they were struck. I saw blows given by the people. Several soldiers were knocked off the fence but whether by blows on their bodies or on their caps I can’t tell. Lieutenant Alves was standing on a heap of loose straw in the haggart and I concluded that if he could not keep his footing and was knocked down the consequences might be fatal to him. I then turned to Captain Bagley who was standing by my side and said, ‘Captain Bagley, you see I cannot force an entrance without firing,’ upon which he said ‘Then you must fire.’   I thereupon gave the word ‘Fire.’    Captain Sheppard, who commanded at the rere of the cart, came towards me and said, ‘Major Walter, shall I fire?’   ‘You must,’ I said, upon which the soldiers at the cart fired. I ran up to see the effect in the hope that we had gained our object. As I approached I saw the crowd, which had opened at the fire, close in right and left of the cart. At this instant a second fire was given and I saw three or four men still flourishing sticks. I called out to the soldiers, ‘Advance and cease fire.’    I then had the cart removed. Three dead bodies were lying near it. Finding the yard cleared of people I ordered my men to take possession of the place. My men were in the act of doing so when a policeman came up and said, ‘Major, they are collected at the back of the northern end of the orchard field, east of the haggart, and they all have taken up stones.’   I had hardly completed my arrangements when the Revd. Mr. Ryder came up and said, ‘Major, you may draw off your men. The tithe is paid – or settled.’   (I don’t know which).   I then retired taking precautions by flanking parties.’

Mr. MacCarthy (Counsel): ‘The retreat from Corunna was a trifle to it. Oh, for the memory of poor Sir John Moore.’

Major Walter also stated that forty-one of the hundred had fired. Twenty-four fired one shot each, nine fired two shots each, and eight fired three shots each. Including infantry, cavalry, and police, there were, he said, one hundred and twenty-one armed men in all. 

Lieutenant Alves said that he had seen a great number of men in the haggart near the bohreen and some behind them again. Nearly all had clubs in their hands. The wall was nearly five feet high in front of the haggart. It was not an easy thing to get over it when opposed by a mob. The people were talking aloud in Irish.  ‘When I got up on the wall I said to my men, ‘Follow me and charge!’    The people got desperate. I gave orders to my men to follow but they said they could not. I heard the noise of sticks against the bayonets. The demeanour of the crowd at this time was particularly ferocious. The collision continued for about five minutes. Major Walter was just behind me when I got on the wall near the stable. The soldiers could not make good their footing on the wall as the mob was so furious. The clashing of the sticks against the bayonets was to prevent the soldiers getting over the wall into the haggart.’    He went, he said, together with Mr. Ryder, to other places later that day distraining for tithes.

After the Firing.

When the soldiers had gone the heart-rending count of the dead took place. Nine lifeless bodies were found in all, of which three were in Mrs. Ryan’s yard, two in McAuliffe’s stables, and one in his yard. Three others must have died subsequently of their injuries, for the local tradition is that twelve were killed and forty-two wounded. This tradition finds support in the British Parliamentary Debates for 1835; and also in some newspaper reports of the time.

Amongst those who fell in Gortroe were two brothers named Collins, stalwart young men aged thirty and thirty-two. When their dead bodies were brought home to their mother, a widow, she threw herself on them like one demented, cherishing a hope that they might still be alive, because, as she cried out in Irish, they were still  ‘giving their blood.’    When she at last realised the terrible truth her reason began to give way. She clung to their bodies and with difficulty was she dragged away from them. Her delirium lasted for days and even long afterwards there were times she believed they were still alive. Both were buried in Templecurraheen, near Carrigtwohill.
Caoine Baintrí Ní Coileáin.
By Fr. Matt. Horgan, P.P. Opening verses
Am bhaintreach bhocht ní raibh mé fós

Gur thuit mo dhís mac in aon ló.

Ar aon ló do teasgadh iad,

Ar aon fhód go tréith thuit siad.

Ós cuibhne liom mo chéile pósta,

Ós cuibhne liom a bhás ‘sa thóramh;

Is cuibhne liom a chur sa chré,

Ba dhubh mo chroidhe ‘s mo bhrón da éis

Widow Collin’s Lament.



(Translation of Fr. Horgan’s caoine).

I ne’er till now knew widowed woe

When both my boys at one fell blow

On one red sod, in one dread hour,

Fell slaughtered ‘neath the bullet shower.

Oh, deeply in my soul are shrined

Sad mem’ries of my husband kind – 

His death, his wake, black days of gloom,

My anguish o’er his open tomb.

For long and sore afflicted years

I wept his death with doleful tears,

Till grew my sons – like oak trees great,

My wealth and pride – to men’s estate.

But widowed now e’ermore I’ll be;

My call for aid brings none to me:

No sons I’ll see approach or part

Or sit beside my Christmas hearth.

No pity great claims widower’s grief

Nor hers who hugs a sadness brief,

But me! ah me, whose sons, alas, 

Lie slumbering ‘neath the graveyard grass!

No child to cheer, my life is lorn;

My blood is gall, my heart-strings torn;

Oh, Ryder, Colles – rogues allied –

You’ve curses cast o’er Christmastide.

There’s many a hapless victim more

On bed of pain lies suffering sore

Who’ll ne’er through future years forget

That hideous day of dole and death.

O’er some has Death spoke hopeless doom, 

And invalids for life are some;

Wide Cork deplores their piteous state, 

Their blasted lives, their blighted fate.

Nigh burst, our breasts heave sigh and groan;

Nigh rent, our hearts make hopeless moan;

As vain we soothe the sufferer’s bed

Or dumbly stand beside the dead.

Rathcormac’s caoine not soon shall cease,

Nor shall Liathán’s, nor yet Fearmuighe’s.

The whole wide country’s crazed extent

Cries out in wild and fierce lament.

The Lee will long wear sorrow’s shroud;

Blackwater’s waves long mourn aloud

Those hallowed heroes lying low

Whose like our land ne’ermore shall know.

From left-hand palm to shoulder slashed

Liam Shinnick’s arm was torn and gashed;

By gangrene now gripped firm and grim

Poor Liam, it looks, must lose the limb.

John Cotter, facing foes unblest, 

Had bullet bedded in his breast;

The surgeon’s skill and naked knife

No longer harbour hopes of life.

Liam Ambrose in his side deep set

Has unextracted bullet yet.

And, weak and wasting, lowly lies

On couch he’ll keep till day he dies.

Bill Ivis, ‘mongst the first to fall,

His shoulder shattered by the ball, 

Now writhes upon his restless bed

Round which await his friendly dead.

There, too, Dha Keeffe was wounded sore

When through his thigh the bullet tore,

And weary weeks will languish low

Ere back to home and hearth he’ll go.

Ah! dreadful day!   Yet forty more

In manhood’s might fell wounded sore;

To parents’ groan and children’s grief

No Christmas joys will bring relief.

What future now awaits the wives

Of those who gave their gallant lives?

Ah, grief and woe and wasting tears

Throughout their farthest future years.

On all this evil slaughterous pack, 

On Ryder and his minions black,

Will surely fall the curses piled

Of widowed wife and orphaned child.

And foemen will with ceaseless scourge

Round Colles and his comrades surge;

Nor will be child of theirs to shed 

A tear when they one day are dead.

By want and woe and all the worst 

Of Cocylus they’ll be accursed;

Down to its depths they’ll darkly go

And black and bitter bide below.

And, with them, all that baleful brood

Who brutal shed the people’s blood;

From torments dire of Tartarus black

Earth nevermore shall see them back.

The Inquest

The Inquest opened in Rathcormac Courthouse two days after the murder – on 20th December. It lasted for twenty days, continuing with but a short break for Christmas of that year.

At the outset a dispute arose as to the method of empanelling the jury. A Mr. Stephen Barry, representing the friends of the victims, objected to the arrangements that were being made by the coroner, but the latter replied that he would do as he thought proper. Mr. Barry reminded him of the gravity of the matter they were about to investigate, involving, as it did, the loss of ten or twelve lives. Public opinion, he said, should not be despised.

Coroner: ‘I don’t give a damn for public opinion or for you either and I tell you what, there is such a place off there as the Bridewell and if you are impertinent I’ll send you there in custody of some of the police passing by. I’d have you know that I am now the first officer in the county.’

Mr. Barry: ‘If you were not in your official capacity I certainly would talk to you in a very different manner. In this much you have given us an early indication of your mind.’

Soon after an express was sent off by the people’s advisers and about six o’clock in the evening the two M.P.s for Cork City with several gentlemen from the same place, as well as two additional Coroners, arrived in Rathcormac. The county M.P.s were also present and one of them, Mr. Fergus O'Connor, who was also a barrister, announced his intention of acting voluntarily as Counsel for the friends of the slain. Both Mr. O'Connor and Dr. Baldwin, M.P., protested strongly against the manner in which Mr. Coroner Foot had selected the names for the jury. After much discussion it was agreed that other names should be added. This was done and all were then put into a hat from which twenty-three names were drawn to form a jury.

Rathcormac was thronged during the day. Troops of infantry and cavalry were present as well as several county magistrates. Friends and relatives of the deceased surrounded the coffined bodies in the Catholic churchyard. Their grief and wailing was most affecting and it was intensified when the lids of the coffins were raised to enable the jury to view the dead bodies. The tolling of the church bell at intervals brought an added note of mourning to the general sorrow. At the request of the Catholic clergymen Mr. Fergus O'Connor, M.P., spoke to the assembled crowds and, with good effect, urged them to subdue their feelings and to bear their terrible affliction as patient and peaceable Christian men and women. The funerals soon moved off attended by an immense concourse. 
The inquest then began.

Wm. McAuliffe, of Ballinakilla, an old man, stated that he was speaking to Mr. Ryder on the day of the ‘Murder.’   He asked for a little time to pay his tithes but was told he would get none unless he took his oath to pay. Having done so Mr. Ryder and the soldiers went on to Widow Ryan’s. He came out of his own house when the firing had ceased and one of the dragoons made a cut with a sword at him. All the people had then gone except one man who was in Widow Ryan’s haggart. This man was actually staggering when a soldier stabbed him. A man was brought dead into his kitchen. A man was found dead on a small manure heap in his yard. About a quarter of an hour after the firing was over he found two men dead in his stable.

Mr. Michael Haly, Bartlemy, said he saw Mr. Ryder on horseback. He couldn’t say when he himself last paid any church rates. A warrant to enforce church rates was executed against him. The police seized his greatcoat and he left it with them. He had not paid tithes to Mr. Ryder, neither did he pay Captain Colles. Mr. Ryder promised to make him an allowance of one-fifth if he would pay him. He did not avail of the offer for he heard that few in the country paid tithes and he would not like to be the first to break the law of the country. He knew there was a danger of being shot, but he would not be a soldier if he did not go there to join the country or join the neighbours. He heard Mr. Ryder order the horsemen to load. They did so. In the course of a minute or two Mr. Ryder gave them orders to fire. They did fire, and Michael Barry, who was standing on the fence nearby, dropped and fell into a manure heap in McAuliffe’s yard. When the word ‘Fire’ was shouted Ryder was in the centre of the dragoons.

Thomas Bowden, mason, Bartlemy, saw Richard Ryan and John Curtin fall in the farmyard. He had heard horns blowing on the evening previous to the shooting.

Michael Marks, Desert, Bartlemy, (a tailor), was standing in the haggart between two brothers named Collins when both fell beside him.

Michael Connell, Ballinwilling, was standing on the straw in the haggart. He saw the fight at the haggart wall and the failure of the soldiers to get over it. A handstick flew over their heads and fell on the bohreen. Thereupon Captain Bagley shouted ‘Fire!’   Witness was then about six feet from Captain Bagley.

One Man’s Three Providential Escapes

Denis O'Connell, of Ballyda, was in the haggart between a stack and a rick when the firing commenced. When he was in the act of getting away a ball, or gunshot, cut a portion of the skirt of his coat.  (He showed the perforated garment).   When he had got about a spade farther on another ball whizzed past his face. He had a stick in his hand which a ball struck and dashed to the ground. When he was running for shelter a man named Daly was struck and fell in front of him. When the danger was over he found Daly dead.

Timothy Murphy, Bride Street, Rathcormac, said he followed the soldiers as they passed his father’s house. He told of the routes taken by the infantry and cavalry, of the reading of the Riot Act, and of the firing.

On the eight day of the Inquest, the three coroners, six of the jury, and counsel on both sides, proceeded to the local hospital to receive the depositions of the wounded, six of whom were stretched on pallets in a dreary apartment and presented evidence of much mental and bodily suffering.

Andrew Shinnick, Watergrasshill, who was dangerously ill, said that when the military came to Widow Ryan’s he was just at the cart. He and others were accosted by two sergeants of the army. They told those sergeants that they would rather lose their lives than quit the place. When the firing commenced Michael Lane and Daniel Daly, who were both standing near him, fell. He was by the car when he got the wound in his left arm. When turning away he heard the shots whistling about him. The man who was in front of him down the field was shot dead.

William Ambrose, Lackabeha, another of the wounded, was very low and dejected and so paralysed that he was unable to hold the book.

He was in the haggart when the firing commenced. Three of them fell together, the Collins brothers and himself. He was wounded in the neck and knew no more. He went there with a good many others to prevent Mr. Ryder from taking the tithes.  ‘If I were to be killed for it,’ he said, ‘I would go there again because it was good work.’    The people and the soldiers, he believed, were more that half an hour parrying each other. The country people had every kind of a stick, as they came across them. Some of those sticks were the theevawns or rafters of a house. The people were shouting as we came on to the widow’s and urging each other to be in the haggart before the soldiers. He added that he was insensible for three days after getting to the hospital. 

Widow Ryan’s Account of the Tragedy.

After returning from the hospital Johanna Ryan, the widow in whose haggart the dreadful scene was enacted, was introduced by counsel. Her appearance excited deep and general sympathy. She was described as a good-looking intelligent woman who seemed to have suffered greatly. On the morning of the occurrence, she said, she locked her haggart gate, her stable door, her dwelling-house door and her barn door. She ordered that a cart should be drawn across the haggart gate and the gate locked. A cart was also drawn across the stable door. She next ordered that another cart be put at the end of the bohreen leading into the yard. The haggart and the yard entrances were then closed up. All these things she got done to avoid paying tithes.  ‘Twas when she first saw the military that she ordered the carts to be placed. Everything was done before they arrived. She made all these precautions to save her haggart, her house, and her stock from paying tithes. She was in the orchard field, east of the yard and the haggart, when the firing commenced. She ran to the middle of the next field and then ran back again towards the yard. Here she met her daughter who swung about her neck. Some soldiers told them they would have their (the women’s) bodies along with the rest.  (A sensation of horror throughout the court).    They cocked their guns to fire at her. She clasped her hands and called out for Mr. Ryder.

‘He was a sore Mr Ryder to me.’

When she was crying and clapping her hands in agony Mr. Ryder rode down into the yard from the bohreen and asked for his tithes. The soldiers swore they’d have her life and that of her daughter. It was then she called out for Mr. Ryder. 

  ‘I called for him to save me and he asked me for tithes. Mr. Ryder then rode into the bohreen from the yard. He desired me to pay his tithes though he knew my son was dead as he passed over him. Mr. Ryder said, ‘Pay me my tithes.’   ‘I will, sir,’ said I.  ‘When?’ said he.  ‘To-day or to-morrow,’ said I.  ‘Pay me instantly,’ said Mr. Ryder.  ‘I will, sir,’ said I, ‘to-day.’   He said ‘I’ll not leave the place until you pay me.’   ‘I thought, Mr. Ryder,’ said I, ‘that you’d take my word for more than the tithe.’   He then searched his fore and hind pockets and said ‘I don’t know what I’ll do till I see the Captain.’   The whole amount of the tithe claimed was £2  8s for Captain Colles. Mr. Ryder must have seen all the bodies in the bohreen at the time. He rode within the length of the table of them. My son’s body was in his view. I had not seen my son’s body when Mr. Ryder parted me. When I saw my son he was lying near the barn. His body was removed about two hours later.’   Here witness burst into tears and exclaimed, ‘He was a sore Mr. Ryder to me. He shouldn’t have killed my son for  £2  8s.  Thank God, ‘twasn’t my son killed a soldier, but God will yet do him justice.’

The feelings of all in court were here overpowered and Captain Bagley seemed greatly affected.

‘I am in possession of the farm,’ she continued, ‘for thirty-five years. I paid tithes every year until these times. I didn’t pay because the parish didn’t pay. The shots were fired off as quickly as I can clap my hands, before I ran. The wonder was that they hadn’t three of our bodies instead of one. When Mr. Ryder entered the yard it was clear of all but military, magistracy and drivers. They had a clear yard of it except for the dead and the dying. On my oath Mr. Ryder never came or asked for tithes before that day. My son, who is not the responsible person, told me that notice had been left at the house. I would have paid if others paid.’

The witness concluded by saying that she would that day complain Mr. Ryder to God Almighty for causing the spilling of her son’s blood.  (A feeling of horror throughout the Court).

The following is the Widow Ryan’s narrative of the slaughter related to ‘Nemo’ in what that writer calls ‘her own simple language.’

‘When I first heard the sogers were coming I was knitting a stocking for Dick, may the Great God forgive him all his sins and rest his soul in peace this day; and it was not long till I heard they were coming down to my own haggart and (‘twas God’s will), they began to fire soon. On the first shot I ran out through my own barn and down through the orchard as fast as my old legs could carry me. When I got to the ditch I cried out, ‘Oh, dear Christians, help me over and let me save my life, the bloodhounds are hunting us.’   In the middle of the next field I met my son Daniel.  ‘Oh, Dan,’ says I, ‘where is Dick? I'm afraid he is down.’   ‘I don’t know,’ says Dan, ‘but have courage, Mother. God is good and He won’t bring trouble on you these holy times. And Mother,’ says he, ‘the shooting is stopped now. Go back and look for Dick for they won’t have the heart to hurt or harm an old woman like you.’

‘With that I turned back and I met my daughter in the bohreen and she went with me, guarding me with her hands around my neck. I met eight or nine soldiers and their sergeant. When I got to the door of my own house Ryder rode up to me looking very black.  ‘Widow Ryan,’ says he, ‘you would not come to me till I showed you the law was too strong for you.’   I told him then I would pay his tithes to save my children’s lives.  ‘Will you pay me now?’ says he.  ‘No,’ I said, ‘for I have not so much money in the house, but I will pay you some day in the week.’   With that he put his hand in his pocked for a book to swear me in my own barn and it full of corpses, but, thank God, I took no oath, and I will never pay him now. He then went to look for Captain Collis,’ (this was the representative of the late Archdeacon in whose right he claimed a portion of the tithes due) ‘and I went to look at the dead bodies to see would I know their faces. I turned two of them on their backs and they were strangers. I then looked down to the end of the barn and I saw my fine boy stretched out on his back, looking at me with the whites of his eyes and his mouth open. I staggered down to him and I caught his pulse and he had no pulse. I put my mouth to his mouth and he had no breath. I then began to shut his eyes and close his lips and Dick Willis cried out to me, ‘Don’t stop his breath.’   ‘Oh, Dick,’ says I, ‘he has no breath to stop and no heart to beat.’    With that I caught his head and my daughter caught his feet and we stretched him in his blood where he lay; and though my eyeballs are like two burning coals I cried no tear since.’

Caoine Baintrí Ni Riain

By Fr. M. Horgan, P.P.  Opening Verses
Aga ghearr tar éis an lámhaig

Do shuil mé faon ameasg an áir.

Cé dhearcfainn ann na measg gan faosamh

Acht mo Risteard agus fuil do thaosga.

Do thóg mé suas mo mhac dá fhortacht,

Mo lámha as m’ucht lena fhuil bhí dearg.

Ó, cé na déanfhadh caoi is deór

Sa mhac áluinn claoidthe ar feódh.

Widow Ryan’s Lament

(Translation of Fr. Horgan’s caoine)

When strife and shootings all were o’er

I searched aghast mid scenes of gore

When, horrors dark! Midst dead and dying

I saw my bleeding Richard, lying.

I raised him high for easeful rest;

His blood drenched red my hands and breast.

Oh. who would not wail loud and wild

Above a stricken, cherished child?

I could not credit life had fled,

That through his heart the ball had sped,

But cold and stark no muscle stirred, 

His mother he nor saw nor heard.

What mother bent o’er lifeless boy,

Of all her children most her joy,

Would pour not tears in torrents fast

As I must now while life shall last?

Soon ‘neath the sod he’ll moulder low,

My broken heart ne’er peace will know;

You’ve, Ryder, rived – you’ve, Bagley, bled

My bosom’s every inmost shred.

Sad was the toll that bayonet took

Which stretched Bill Twomey ‘neath its stroke;

Through ‘fenceless ribs all torn and rent

The cruel blade deep-buried went.

In Meehawl Lane, there likewise maimed,

A martyr more the carnage claimed.

His gullet gashed and gushing blood,

He fell where fighting bold he’d stood.

Red path through Patrick Curtin’s waist

Behind his hip the bullet traced,

And, speeding with resistless force,

Right through his vitals crashed its course.

Malignant was the battle’s luck

That coldly down Will Cashman struck.

The sorrowings of his sister lone

Blend sadly with his mother’s moan.

On that same day the guilty guns

Smoked black o’er Widow Collins’ sons,

Young Mike and John, who jointly rest

Where Tuahal’s rock* towers o’er each breast.

             . . . . . . .

*Carrigtwohill, Co. Cork.

The Inquest concluded early in the New Year, 1835. The jury, after five hours’ deliberation, brought in a majority verdict against those principally responsible for the shootings – thirteen for ‘Wilful Murder,’ eight for ‘Justifiable Homicide,’ and two for ‘Manslaughter.’

The three coroners accepted the verdict of the majority but Counsel for those concerned intimated that they would take the sense of the King’s Bench on the matter. Their clients were bailed out and the proceedings against them fell through.

In John Mitchel’s History of Ireland there is a reference to the massacre at Rathcormac, ‘County Waterford.’ This is clearly an error. He has confused Rathgormack in that county with Rathcormac, Co. Cork; and for the sake of historical accuracy the opportunity is taken to correct it here.

Press Comments

The ‘Murder’ was much commented on by the Press of the time. On the 20th December, two days after the tragedy, The Southern Reporter, a Cork newspaper, wrote: 








‘ . . . . . . .To describe the state of the country since the tragic occurrence was enacted is not in the power of the writer. The shops in Watergrasshill and Rathcormac are generally closed. Business of every kind is suspended. Feeling is intense. The people are dark and sullen and desperate, quite reckless and careless of life. They are incommunicative and, with very few exceptions, were not seen to shed a tear. One old man, in the presence of the writer, surrounded by several scores of peasants, fell upon his knees and imprecated the vengeance of Heaven upon the destroyers of his children and the despoilers of his peace. Another offered up an oath that he wouldn’t die until the blood in which he at that moment knelt was avenged. . . . . . .’

From The People’s Press:

‘Massacre at Bartlemy’

‘The inquest has terminated as every man who wishes to see justice extended to our miserable people and to save them from the crime of seeking for it with their own hands will consider to be right and appropriate when he reflects on the wholesale slaughter committed . . . . . . . the jury had an arduous duty to perform but they acquitted themselves like impartial men and true Christians who must rebuke crime wherever it presents itself – whether in high or low – whether in the man armed with a little brief authority or in him who is defenceless and unprotected.’

Another Journal commented:

Tithes Massacre


‘The late slaughter has filled every humane heart with horror …..The truth is written in human blood that life was taken in the name of religion . . . . . was taken in pursuit of that gold for which the disciples of a religion of peace and charity never thirsted; and although every act may have been within the limits of human law, every deed of appalling sacrifice dictated by the calculations of human necessity, there is, and oh, thank God, there is, a higher and more holy moral voice speaking to the human heart and engraving upon it a spiritual law – that a system associated with such deeds should cease to be . . . . ‘

‘After this scene of blood the Revd. Mr. Ryder went into the house or bawn of the widow whose tithe was the bloody bone of contention, and, as has been stated to us, demanded his £4 tithe – and remained so long chattering for a few shillings that the military officer who accompanied him turned away in disgust and declared that he would not again witness such a scene for the world . . . . . What!   A man with a human heart in his bosom to think of pelf, of thumbing over silver, surrounded by the mangled bodies of the lifeless in his cause, to collect his debt when the groans of the dying and the shrieks of the living should have awfully reminded him how many were about to pay the debt of nature – this, this is not, cannot be true of a being who, though a parson, cannot be a demon.’

The Cork Constitution, a Conservative and Protestant organ, took a different view, condemning the action of the people and upholding that of the military and of the magistrates.

‘For two or three nights previous to Thursday,’ it wrote, ‘horns had been sounded on the hills throughout the country, and on the night immediately preceding, large bodies of peasantry marched through various towns distant eight, ten and twelve miles from the threatened parish. A formidable plan of resistance had been evidently organised. On the approach of Mr. Ryder and his party to Bartlemy Cross they were assailed by countrymen on the hills with hooting, and several stones were thrown. The entrance of the military and distraining party was resisted with every species of violence. The country people fought eagerly with spades, sticks and stones. All was borne patiently by the soldiers for a considerable time. . . . . It was not till every art had been tried to stop their savage fury and that Major Walter and Lieutenant Alves and many of the soldiers had been desperately wounded and several of their muskets broken that the fatal order to fire with ball was given.’

From the London Weekly Dispatch:

The first accounts of this horrible massacre represented it as by far more mitigated than it appears to be by the testimony of numerous witnesses upon oath before the Coroner’s inquest. Of Mr. Ryder we do not speak individually. We take him as one of a genus or species.. . . . . . the mass of evidence proves this to have been a case of butchery begun in a spirit of clerical plunder and prosecuted in a tomahawk war whoop.

‘. . . . . Let us ask whether any powerful imagination, in poetry or prose, ever created in fiction a scene so fiendish as is here presented in fact: A clergyman compelling a tribute for tithes for duties he does not and cannot perform; a clergyman heading a body of soldiers with fixed bayonets and naked sabres to collect these tithes, £2   8s., from a poor widow; the shooting of the son and the clergyman yelling for tithes, at the instant, from a distressed mother over the bleeding corpse of her child is a complication of all that is demoniac.’

A Monument to one of the Victims.

In Ardnegeehy graveyard about half-way between Watergrasshill and Glenville, in Co. Cork, there is a headstone erected to the grave of William Cashman who, the inscription tells, ‘was killed by the military in the Gap of Gortroe on the 18th December, 1834.’

The word ‘Gap’ in this connection was probably a loose translation of what was so realistically a ‘Bearna Baoghail’ for those heroic men of 1834.

This is the only monument, public or private, so far as the writer knows, that commemorates the victims or the event.

Up to the beginning of the present century ‘The Murder’ marked an epoch in the locality. The older generation, two score years ago, referred to important events in their earlier days as having taken place so many years or months before or after ‘The Murder.’

‘How long is it since ‘The Murder’?’ the writer was asked by an old man some forty years ago.

‘Seventy years for next December,’ he was informed.

‘I was born the week before it,’ the other remarked, and the expression of evident pleasure with which he recalled his vanished years would have mystified a person who did not know that he was at the time an applicant for the old age pension.

Effects of ‘The Murder’

This fight near Bartlemy village created a profound and widespread impression emphasising how deeply rooted was the antipathy of the people to tithes, and how grimly determined they were to resist payment of the tax. In 1835 Thomas Drummond, a Scotchman, was appointed Under-Secretary for Ireland. He had been in this country for some years previously and he deeply sympathised with the sufferings of the people. Resolving to pursue a policy of conciliation and to change the whole spirit and system of Irish administration, he refused to lend the police or military to aid in the collection of tithes. His action was legally contested but the Courts upheld it. The ‘Murder of Gortroe’ was therefore the last great battle of the Tithe War in which armed forces of the Crown took part. Parsons still, however, went around trying to collect tithes with the help of their proctors and bailiffs, and there were some further fatal collisions between them and the people.

In 1834 the great Bishop Doyle died. That same year Dr. MacHale, another energetic opponent of tithes, became Archbishop of Tuam. He demanded the total abolition of tithes, not their reduction or commutation into the form of a land tax.

A new Parliament opened in February, 1835. The Tory government brought forward an Irish Tithes Commutation Bill reducing tithes by twenty-five per cent., and converting the remainder into a rent charge. O'Connell demanded that in addition the surplus revenues of the Irish Church should be appropriated for educational purposes. A long debate followed in the course of which O'Connell, recalling some of the history of the tax, referred, as per Hansard, to an ‘Act of 1772 which empowered magistrates to shoot anyone who opposed the payment of tithes. . . . An Act passed in 1775 created upwards of ninety capital felonies for resistance to the payment of tithes, and those Acts were followed by a complication of statutes exceeding each other in barbarity and cruelty. . . . . But the innate sense of injustice, the conviction of wrong arising from the payment of a sinecure Protestant clergy by a Catholic population, overturned the boundaries of law, broke asunder the parchment chains of the Acts of Parliament; the dungeons were filled, the convict ships were crowded, even the scaffold was reared and blood was shed in the oceans – but shed in vain. Was it not time to put an end to such scenes of atrocity? Blood was flowing still. Even now was not Rathcormac red with human gore?’

Feargus O'Connor, Protestant M.P. for Cork County, in the course of the same debate, declared that they could never eradicate from the breasts of the people of Ireland their disinclination to pay tithes. How did the Widow Ryan answer in Rathcormac when questioned as to what influenced the conduct she pursued? Her answer was, ‘I did not wish to make a head of myself in the parish.’   Could anything evince more plainly the sentiment prevailing amongst the peasantry . . . . .So long as such scenes enacted at Rathcormac continued there could be no peace for the country.’

The Government party refused to concede the demand for the appropriation of the Irish Church revenues, and as O'Connell at the time happened to hold the balance of power between the British parties he threw the Tories out of office and formed an alliance with the Whigs. But when the new Whig government passed a Tithe Bill with an appropriation clause through the Commons it was defeated by the Tory majority of the House of Lords. And year after year Whig Tithe Bills met with the same fate until at length agreement was reached on a twenty-five per cent. reduction of the tithe and the commuted seventy-five per cent. to be paid by the landlord – a concession that could have been obtained under the rejected Tory Tithe Bill of 1835. As the landlord had the power to recoup himself by raising the rent the tithe still fell indirectly on the tenant. Nevertheless it was soothing to susceptibilities to divest the hated tax of the provocative and humiliating features of direct payment to the parson. It could be regarded as another galling link struck off the chain of the last remnant of the Penal Code.  The proctor was gone for ever.

Disappointed by Compromise

There were, however, many who violently disagreed with the settlement of the tithe question and who blamed O'Connell for helping to pass this measure. These regarded it as totally unsatisfactory and unworthy of the strenuous fight of years for which nothing less than the complete abolition of tithes should or need have been accepted. A Father Davern, a Tipperary priest, forcibly voiced such feelings.

‘On the tithe question,’ he said, ‘the people of Ireland had already chosen their own remedy; they wanted no legislation, they sought no interference, they were prepared to suffer all, to endure all, but to pay nothing. A clear field and no favour between them and the parson was all they looked for and they had it if they were left alone. They were on the very brink of complete success if the blight of Whig legislation and internal delusions had not fallen on their councils. . . . . .Was it for a reduction of twenty-five per cent. and to make the landlords proctors that our ancestors resisted this unhallowed tax and that the widow of Rathcormac gave the blood of her son?’

In our own times the virtual termination of the landlord system has effectively disposed of, among other things, the Tithe problem in Ireland. All its iniquitous associations are fast fading into history, and the atmosphere of sectarian animosity which the Tithe collections did much to create has given way to the tolerance and harmony of a brighter day.

But, in spite of this, the slaughter of Gortroe is not likely to be soon forgotten in the locality in which it was enacted; as the years go by its epic story will continue to be narrated, and to be heard with more than passing interest, and with no small meed of pride, by the generations which in turn succeed those to whom Tithes meant a dark and sad and lonely Christmas in 1834.
No garlands deck the martyrs’ graves save Nature’s verdant wreath;

No columns crown the humble mounds their brave breasts lie beneath;

But long as Corrin’s ridge shall rise or Bride’s fair waters flow

Their tale with pride will sire tell son round firesides in Gortroe.

The Murder Of Gortroe, Correcting Note.

 A collection of articles by the late Francis McManus recently published in Dublin has an article on this battle in which it is stated of the widow Ryan that her son Richard was her sole support. In the interest of historical accuracy I think it is desirable to correct this. She had two grown-up sons at the time, Daniel and Richard.

Some forty years afterwards I knew this Daniel, then a middle-aged man. He had succeeded his widowed mother to the farm on which the ‘Murder’ took place. Daniel had a daughter and two sons, and was succeeded in the farm by the elder son: and his eldest son, (Daniel’s grand-son) now holds possession of this farm. Other grandchildren of the same Daniel are scattered throughout Cork County. Another grandson is a Parish Priest some thousands of miles from his native ‘Gortroe’ – at the Golden Gates of San Francisco, on the verge of the Pacific; while two granddaughters are attached to a religious Community in England.

Fr. Matt Horgan of Blarney (to whom I have referred elsewhere) published a small booklet on the tragedy in 1835. He himself visited Bartlemy and interviewed the widow Ryan, and he was probably present during part of the Inquest in what is now Curtin’s barn in Rathcormac village, near Fermoy.

(This correcting note was originally published in Through Desmond and Decies.   ed.)
